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PUBLI C HEARI NG 1 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

--- Upon commencing at 10:03 a.m/
L’ audi ence débute a 10h03

THE REG STRAR.  This hearing of the Cornwall
Public Inquiry is nowin session. The Honourable M.
Justice Normand @ aude, Comm ssioner, presiding.

Pl ease be seated. Veuillez vous asseoir.

THE COW SSI ONER:  Good norning, all.

| have a few opening remarks and then we’ ||
get to the work at hand.

Let me begin by saying that it was and it
still is an honour to have been asked by the Attorney
General of Ontario to lead the Cornwall Public Inquiry. |
agreed to take on this chall enge because of my belief in
the inmportance of the inquiry’ s nandate.

In my view, the inquiry has great potential
to help communities, both in Cornwall and beyond, to |earn
how public institutions can respond qui ckly and well when
faced with allegations about sexual abuse of children by
persons in positions of trust or authority.

| al so welcome the opportunity to find ways
t hroughout the inquiry to support the comunity of Cornwal l
as it noves forward after a difficult period inits
hi story.

Je tiens a souhaiter |a bienvenue a toutes

|l es parties ici présentes aujourd hui et a insister sur

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 2 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

| i nportance d’ accorder a toutes |es personnes intéressées
| a possibilité de s’ expriner dans |le cadre de |’ enquéte.

Je sal ue égal enent | es nenbres du public et
| es médi as qui vont assister aux audi ences ou | es suivre.

The parties who have been granted standi ng
in the inquiry are all represented by skilled counsel who
will be able to assist nme and all of us in getting through
what may be a |l engthy and sonetinmes difficult process.
Counsel will also help to ensure that everyone who appears
before ne is well heard and that all perspectives are taken
i nto account .

| am counting on counsel to hel p ensure that
we conplete the inquiry in a reasonable period of tine by
focusi ng on those issues relevant to the nandate | have
been gi ven.

In addition, I would Iike to request that
everyone, whether you are a party to the proceedings, a
w tness, |egal counsel, an observer or a nmenber of the
medi a, to please show respect and concern at all tines for
t he persons who appear before the inquiry. This will be a
priority for me and, | hope, for all of you as well.

It takes courage to cone forward and to
speak in a public venue about painful past events. Wether
one is an individual who has nmade an all egati on of being

sexual |y abused as a child, a person agai nst whom such

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 3 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

al l egations were made, or an official or a public
institution that was asked to respond to such all egations,
testifying will not be an easy task.

| have taken steps to have counseling
services made available to all persons affected by this
inquiry, not only to alleged victins and all eged
perpetrators and their famlies, but also to anyone who
participates in the inquiry who feels the need to seek sone
type of assistance.

Now, the details of how to access this
service will be finalized shortly and will be nade public
by way of news release, notice to the parties and, of
course, on our website.

A word about our conmunications staff.
Mari e- Josée Lapointe and Joan Wi nman are the inquiry’s
communi cati ons advi sory who can be contacted by the nedi a.

Pl ease note that | will not be avail abl e and
Il will not make nyself available to the nmedia during this
inquiry. The reason for that is fairly sinple. | feel
that any comruni cation from ne should take place within the
inquiry process, whether in the hearing roomor in ny final
report.

| would like to assure all parties that |
wi |l make every effort to ensure that everyone is well

heard here in this public forumon issues relevant to ny

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 4 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

mandate. It is ny hope that this will limt the extent to
which you will feel the need to continue debate and

di scussi on outside the hearing roomon those sane issues
while the inquiry is underway.

Wth respect to the mandate, | would like to
di scuss the mandate of the Cornwall Public Inquiry. The
mandate sets out two primary tasks. The first task is to
find out how public institutions in Cornwall responded in
the past to any allegations of sexual abuse that were
brought to their attention.

W wil also |look at the way institutional
responses and the capacity of institutions to respond have
evol ved over tinme and how the responses coul d be inproved
in the future. This will be the subject of Phase 1 of the
inquiry.

As the focus of Phase 1 is on allegations of
child sexual abuse nmade to public institutions, | would
like to take a nonment to comment briefly on these terns.

The mandat e speaks broadly of child sexua
abuse all egations. However, based on the events |eading up
to the Cornwall Public Inquiry, ny assunption is that the
primary focus will be on allegations agai nst persons in a
position of trust and authority as opposed to, for exanple,
abused all eged to have taken place within a famly.

The mandate al so speaks about the responses

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 5 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

of public institutions. By public institutions we nean
such entities as the police and Corrections and those that
have been listed as parties, | suppose, in this inquiry.

| should point out, however, that during the
inquiry we may al so discuss the role and practices of other
institutions such as the Church. This would be done for
t he purpose of better understandi ng and eval uating the
responses of the public institutions that are included in
the inquiry s mandate.

The second prinmary task is to | ook at ways
to help the affected individuals, institutions and the
Cornwal | community to nove down the path towards healing
and closure. By healing and closure, | mean to find ways
to clear the air with respect to our public institutions
and to determ ne how they did react and how t hey shoul d
react in the future.

It is to |look at ways for those persons hurt
by this whole situation to be better equipped to deal with
their lives and to finally shut the door on the past in as
much as is humanly possi bl e.

This will be the subject of Phase 2 of the
inquiry. The need for healing and closure exists no matter
what did or did not happen in Cornwall and regardl ess of
what | may find in Phase 1 about how public institutions

responded to allegations that were nmade to them

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 6 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

| conme to this inquiry mndful of the fact
that this has been a very painful and difficult tine in
this coomunity’s history. It is precisely because this has
been very painful and difficult that healing and cl osure
nmust take pl ace.

Al t hough healing and closure is the focus
for Phase 2 of the inquiry, | amsensitive to the fact that
the way in which we conduct Phase 1 can have a positive or
negative inpact on the ability of Phase 2 to achi eve that
objective. | would encourage all parties to keep this in
m nd t hroughout Phase 1

| should al so point out that the Cornwall
Public Inquiry is not the only process that arises fromthe
events alleged to have occurred. There have been crim nal
proceedings in the courts and there are ongoing civil
proceedi ngs. This inquiry does not and cannot seek, in
effect, to try or re-try these matters. It is not within
nmy mandate to determ ne who did what to whom although |
may meke findings of fact about what allegations were made
to various public institutions and how those institutions
responded, including the interaction of the response with
ot her public and community sectors.

Pernmettez-noi mai ntenant de vous expliquer
bri évenent comment |’ enquéte se déroulera. Comme je vous

|"ai dit, la Phase 1 a come objectif de recueillir des

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 7 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

i nformations qui mniaideront a déterm ner comrent |es
institutions de Cornwal |l sont intervenues face aux

al | égations de mauvais traitement sexuel a |’ endroit

d’ enfants qui ont été portés a leur attention, a découvrir
guel l es politiques et pratiques étaient en place et a
savoir comment elles ont été appliquées. Les avocats de |la
Comm ssi on appel l eront |es ténoins qui seront égal enent
interrogés par d autres avocats.

During Phase |, sone individuals may wish to
testify about what happened to themas victins of child
sexual abuse or as persons agai nst whom al |l egati ons were
made. And indeed, we do need to hear about the allegations
that were nade and to whom t hey were nade.

This is necessary in order to nmake findings
about how public institutions responded to those
all egations. However, | remind all parties and their
counsel that our focus is on the response of the
institutions thensel ves, and we will be hearing the
evidence in Phase | for that purpose alone. This
di stingui shes Phase | from Phase Il, which will focus
broadl y on healing and cl osure.

Phase | will be structured by what | call by
public institutions and by that I nean we will divide the
evidence into followi ng the conplaints made to each

institution and follow through with that institution's

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 8 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

actual responses in dealing with each conplaint. Phase |

is scheduled to begin on March 27'" of this year. W have
schedul ed hearings from Monday to Thursday for that purpose
until April 6'" of 2006 with a week off from hearings in the
week of April 10'"™ and then continuing according to the
drafted schedul e.

It is ny hope that Phase Il will offer an
opportunity for people to speak nore broadly about what has
happened and the inpact on them and the Cornwall conmunity.

The nature of the Phase Il healing and
cl osure process has not yet been determ ned. Over the next
few nonths, | will be considering howto structure that
phase of the Inquiry, and I will seek input fromthe
parties’ counsel and others. M hope is that we can design
Phase Il in a way that hel ps to make progress towards the
goal of healing and closure and that |eaves participants in
a better position to continue down that road.

| will also be setting up an expert advisory
group to provide advice and assi stance throughout the Phase
Il process.

Avant | e début des ténpi gnages factuels de
| a Phase I, nous aurons une senai ne ou deux pour ce que
j appell e | es audi ences d’ établissenment du contexte. Au
cours des prochains jours, des experts nous expliqueront ce

gu ils pensent d apres |eur expérience et |eurs recherches

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 9 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

des enjeux de |’ enquéte. Cela nous aidera a nous faire une
idée de la situation avant d entendre des preuves
détaill ées.

J'ainerais préciser que |es experts gque nous
entendrons dans | e cadre de cette phase d’ établissenent du
contexte ne parleront pas de ce qui s’ est passé ou de ce
gqui ne s’ est pas passé. Ils ont plutdét été sélectionnés en
rai son de | eur connai ssance des questions soul evées par
| "enquéte qui nous servira de toile de fond si vous voul ez
pour nous aider a placer dans leurs contextes |es
t énoi gnages sur Cornwal | que nous entendrons au cours de |a
Phase 1.

Par exenple, certains experts nous décriront
| " évol ution de notre conpréhension des nmauvais traitenents
sexuel s affligés a des enfants en général et par des
personnes en situation de pouvoir ou de confiance. |Ils
expliqueront la signification de certains ternes techni ques
qui reviennent souvent dans |es discussions a ce sujet.

II's expliqueront |es perspectives de victinmes d agression
sexuel l e contre les enfants, d’ agresseurs preésunes,

d institutions, ainsi que des représentations du mlieu

t hérapeuti que et de |a recherche.

II's nous présenteront égal ement ce que nous
savons nai ntenant étre de bonnes interventions de |la part

des institutions et de la collectivité a des all égations de

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 10 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

mauvai s traitenents sexuels envers des enfants. Certains
des experts que vous entendrez au cours des audi ences
initiales d établissenment du contexte reviendront peut-étre
nous parler a une étape ultérieure de |’ enquéte.

J'ajouterai aussi d autres experts aux
Phases | et |11, au besoin, pour nous aider a conprendre
encore une fois |l e contexte. La encore, ces experts nous
aideront a nous faire une idée de |a situation exacte.

Leur tache n’est pas de nous dire ce qu'ils croient qu

s’ est passé ou non a Cornwall. Ce que j’'espere c’'est que
nous allons considérer |’ enquéte comme un processus

d’ apprenti ssage pour nous tous, y conpris noi-néne, et je
crois qu il est inportant que nous établissions |le contexte
ensenbl e.

Now t hat you have heard about the Inquiry’s
mandate and how it wll unfold, sonme of you may be asking,
“How i nportant is the Cornwall Public Inquiry”. If it is
not a process to separate valid allegations fromthose that
are false or determ ne who did what to whom why spend the
time and the resources?

In my view, the question of how public
institutions respond to allegations of sexual abuse by
persons in a position of trust or authority is enornously
inportant. It goes to the heart of how, as a society, we

protect our children. It |ooks at how we respect the

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 11 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

rights of persons alleged to have commtted depl orable
breaches of trust. It also exam nes the accountability of
vital institutions in our society.

In short, the ways in which institutions
respond can be seen as an expression of our collective
concern about issues of great inportance. It is vital,
therefore, that we think about fundanmental questions that
flow fromthe nmandate.

What are the best responses for public
institutions? Wat is the inpact if the responses fal
short of that standard? Wat is the inpact of the
institutional responses on children alleged to have been
sexual |y abused? Wat is the inpact on persons alleged to
be abusers? Wat is the inpact on public institutions that
have a nmandate to hel p persons at risk in our comunity?
And what is the inpact on the Cornwall community as a whol e
as a result of allegations nade over a period of several
decades? And finally, what can we do to hel p those
affected to progress down the road to healing?

So yes, | consider the nandate of the
Inquiry to be extrenely inportant. |t represents an
i nportant opportunity to help the comunity of Cornwall to
nove forward after a difficult period inits history. It
al so represents a one-tinme opportunity to answer

fundamental public policy questions, to docunent |essons

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 12 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

| earned fromthe Cornwall experience and to devel op
recomrendations for the future that will benefit

i ndi viduals, institutions and the community of Cornwall and
beyond.

In conclusion, I want to thank you all again
for your commtnent to the Cornwall Public Inquiry and its
mandate. | | ook forward to our conbined efforts to nmake
the Inquiry a meani ngful process that will have benefici al
and long-lasting results.

Now, enough said for ne; we will now hear
from Peter Engel mann, |ead counsel, who will introduce
today’ s agenda so to speak. Thank you.

MR. ENGELMANN:. Good norning, M.
Comm ssi oner, and thank you and good norning ny | earned
friends, |adies and gentlenen. Wl cone to the Cornwall
Public Inquiry.

| have sonme very brief introductory
coments, and | want to once again introduce Conmm ssion
counsel who people will be seeing throughout this inquiry.

To nmy far left is Pierre Dumai s whom many of
you know and to his imediate right Raija Pul kki nen, and
Christine Murris and Sinon Ruel who may or may not be in
the hearing room

THE COW SSI ONER: Qut in the back there.

MR. ENGELMANN: Thank you

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 13 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

The five of us have been working on this
file now for sone tinme and we will be seeing you, M.
Comm ssi oner, and nmany of these counsel over the next few
nont hs.

My comrents this norning really will focus a
little bit on what we call the context evidence part of
Phase | and, M. Comm ssioner, you conmented on this
briefly in the French | anguage. For ny friends who are
ei ther not bilingual or who were not listening to their
headsets, sonme of this will be new, but | just wanted to
briefly talk about what we will be hearing over the next
f ew days.

W will have a full opening statenent to
make when the evidentiary part of Phase | starts this
spring, and | know ny col |l eagues will as well.

So over the next few days, we will be
hearing froma nunber of experts, starting this norning
will David Wlfe. Dr. WIlfe is an expert in child sexual
abuse and, in addition, he is an expert in the inpact of
child sexual abuse on victins.

We al so have Professor Ni cholas Bal a who
will be joining us, and he’'s an expert on the evol ution of
| egislation, |aw and | egal processes involving children
and, in particular, child sexual abuse. W have as well

Nico Trocne. He's an expert in the reporting of child

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 14 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

abuse and, in particular, child sexual abuse. John Liston,
who is an expert in the child welfare response to
al l egations of child sexual abuse.

W w il be having a police expert. That may
be Wendy Leaver or soneone of a simlar background, and
she’s a detective with the Metro Toronto Sex Crines Unit,
but in any event an expert in police investigations,
policies and practices with regard to allegations of child
sexual abuse.

As well, we wll have an expert, and this
may be Fat her John Loftus or an alternate. He's an expert
in the responses of the Catholic Church to allegations of
chil d sexual abuse agai nst clergy.

Lastly, we expect to have Dr. Peter Jaffe,
an expert in Child Sexual Abuse and, in particular, the
institutional and conmunity response to it.

W' re starting with Dr. Wlfe, and he w |
be including the followng topics in his presentation. He
will be talking to us about the definitions of child sexua
abuse and child sexual exploitation. He will be talking to
us about the types and preval ence of child sexual abuse,

i ncl udi ng pedophilia, hebophilia and other characteristics
of child sexual abuse. He will be talking to us about how
our under standi ng and awar eness of child sexual abuse has

evol ved and sone of the additional problenms we face when

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 15 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

persons of trust or persons in positions of authority are
i nvol ved as al |l eged perpetrators.

He will also be discussing briefly
institutional responses, protocols and standards and
responses of communities.

He will be talking in sone detail about the
i mpact of child sexual abuse on children and then later on
adul ts who have experienced child sexual abuse.

He will talk about the disclosure process or
per haps better known as the non-disclosure process and the
i ssue of false allegations.

He will also be talking to us about the
difficulty for persons working with children and/or adults
who have been sexual |y abused as chil dren.

And | astly, he will |leave us with sone
i nportant considerations when dealing with child sexual
abuse and why public awareness of the issue is so hel pful

in dealing with it.

Professor Bala will talk to us about
| egi slation, Iaw and | egal processes, as | indicated
earlier, and he will give us a historical overview of the

| egi slation, law and the | egal systens and how t hey
responded to child sexual abuse right up through the 1970s.
Then he will talk to us about the evol ution

and the begi nnings of change in the |egislation, |aw and

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 16 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

| egal processes fromthe m d-seventies through the m d-
eighties. He will then track this and talk to us about
sone of the fundanmental system c changes that occurred in
the legislation, |aw, and | egal processes through the
eighties and early nineties. He wll also talk to us about
sonme of the refornms recently to our crimnal |aw

He will then explain very briefly sonme of
the high profile Canadi an cases that have dealt with child
sexual abuse. He will then share with us sone concerns
regarding fal se allegations of child sexual abuse and sone
chal | enges in proving abuse in court.

Lastly, he will deal with civil liability
and al |l egati ons of abuse agai nst enpl oyees and/ or
vol unteers of child-serving institutions and the evolution
of their response.

Dr. Trocnmgé, who is an expert in the
reporting of child abuse and social worker at MG I
University, wll talk to us alittle bit about how the
reporting of abuse has evolved; how our child welfare
system has responded and sone of the statistics dealing
with the present-day reporting of child abuse and child
sexual abuse.

M. Liston will talk to us about the child
wel fare response and, in particular, give us a historical

context of children’s aid societies. He will talk to us

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



© o0 N o o A~ W N Bk

=
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PUBLI C HEARI NG 17 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

about the role of children’s aid societies in the issue of
child sexual abuse, some of the significant |egislative
changes and also child welfare trends over the recent past
fromthe late sixties right up to the present.

Qur police expert will talk to us about
police investigations, policies and practices, and this
expert will describe the evolution of police investigations
in policies pertaining to child sexual abuse from at | east
the early 1980s through to the present.

Qur expert on the response of the Church
will deal with a general historical overview of how the
Church has viewed the problemof child sexual assault
within the clergy; also the Church’s grow ng awar eness of
the problemin the sixties and how isol ated cases of
m sconduct were brought to light in the seventies and
onwards. This expert will also describe how cases of child
sexual abuse were brought to light in the late eighties and
early nineties; sone of the treatnent that clergy have
received, if they' ve been involved in child sexual abuse;
al so the slow but increasing awareness and response to the
probl em t hrough the 1990s. And that expert will end with
what has been | earned and why the invol venent of the Church
in this process is inportant.

Lastly, Peter Jaffe, who is an expert in

child sexual abuse, will talk to us about the comunity and
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 18 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

institutional response; the primary, secondary and tertiary
responses by various institutions. He will talk to us
about the inportance of primary prevention and public

awar eness of child sexual abuse; the need for prevention
prograns for children and al so for adol escents; the need
for professional awareness anongst teachers, doctors and

ot her professionals and training to assist in the detection
and responses to child sexual abuse.

He will also talk to us about police and
child protection protocols and the coordination of those
protocols with respect to investigation, safety, planning
and heal i ng.

Lastly, he will talk to us about early
intervention and treatnent for victins and perpetrators.

M. Comm ssioner, you ve tal ked about this
briefly and you’ ve touched upon this. The purpose of this
context evidence, as we see it, we believe this evidence
wll set a context and thus help us all frame the issues
that this inquiry will be exam ning in the nonths ahead.

THE COMM SSI ONER M hm

MR. ENGELMANN: Counsel for the parties have
been advi sed that they have the opportunity to file witten
openi ng statenents with the Conmm ssion one week prior to
t he commencenent of our evidentiary hearings, which we

anticipate, therefore, will be March 20'" with a start on
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 19 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

March 27", and counsel are also aware that they have an
opportunity to make oral opening subm ssions upon the
conpl etion of this contextual evidence, if they so choose.

Counsel have al so been advised that if they
have prelimnary issues that they wish dealt with, that
they wish to be adjudicated, we would like themto file
their notions and do so quickly, and we have, in fact,
suggested the date of February 16'", this Thursday, for that
purpose. W would like to have any outstandi ng issues
adj udi cated -- outstanding prelimnary issues, that is,
adj udi cated on February 23'9 if possible, so that we can
ensure these issues can be resolved quickly and that al
parties can then prepare effectively and efficiently for
t he substantive hearing later this spring.

Just before comng to the inquiry s first
witness, | wanted to say sonething very briefly about the
rol e of Comm ssion counsel, and | have listed the five
i ndividual s involved. Rule 8 sets out that we are to
assist in ensuring the orderly conduct of this inquiry and
to represent the public interest throughout, and | can
assure you and individuals here that all of us viewthis
responsibility as a very inportant one. W take it very
seriously and we will do our utnost to fulfill it.

M. Comm ssioner, unless there is anything

el se that nust be resolved i medi ately, the Comm ssion is
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 20 OPENI NG REMARKS
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

ready to call its first wtness.

THE COW SSIONER: Al'l right.

Any prelimnary coments or objections or
anything fromthe parties?

| don’t think so.

Al right, you may call your first wtness.

MR. ENGELMANN: Would Dr. David Wl fe please
cone forward?

( SHORT PAUSE)

THE REA STRAR: Coul d you state your nane,

pl ease?
DR. WOLFE: David Allen Wl fe.
THE REG STRAR.  Coul d you spell it, please?
DR WOLFE: Allen is A-L-L-E-N and Wlfe is
WO L-F-E

DAVI D ALLEN WOLFE, Affirned:

THE COWM SSI ONER:  Go ahead, sir.

MR, ENGELMANN: M. Comm ssioner, just
before seeking to qualify Dr. Wlfe, | just wanted to
mention that my friends were all advised by letter dated
January 27'" that the Conmi ssion proposed to qualify Dr.
Wl fe as an expert in child sexual abuse and a slight
nmodi fication -- and in addition an expert in the inpact of
child sexual abuse on victins. W did not receive any

objections so | don’t anticipate there will be objections
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 21 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)
to his qualifications. However, counsel nay have a few
guestions. | certainly have a few questions, but wll
[imt themw th that in mnd.

THE COW SSIONER: Al right.

EXAM NATI ON ON QUALI FI CATI ON BY/ | NTERROGATO RE
SUR QUALI FI CATI ONS PAR MR, ENGELMANN

MR. ENGELMANN: Dr. Wl fe, you should have
in front of you a Book of Docunents that says “Book of
Docunents - David A. Wlfe, Ph.D.”

Do you have that?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, | do.

MR. ENGELMANN: | should just point out for
the record that all counsel have been provided with the
contents of this Book of Docunents electronically | think
sone time |ast week and then this norning with a CD that
has the full book on it.

| understand that the reporters and the
Comm ssi oner, you have hardcopi es.

Dr. Wilfe, if we could just turn to Tab 1
and if you could just indicate to us what we see there.

DR. WOLFE: This is a copy of ny curricul um
vitae that | provided dated January of ' 06.

MR ENGELMANN: Al l right.

So that it would be fair to say the CVis up

to date?
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 22 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

QUALI FI CATI ON
(Engel mann)

WOLFE: Yes.
ENGELMANN:  And accur at e?

3 3 3

WOLFE:  Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  And if you could then take a
| ook at Tab 2 as well, sir, and explain for us what we see
t here.

DR. WOLFE: Bi ographical sumrmary that |
prepared that draws on highlights of my academ c
background, clinical and forensic background and recent
honours that | prepared.

MR. ENGELMANN:  Sir, is it also accurate and
up to date to the best of your know edge?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR, ENCELMANN:  Now, Dr. Wlfe, these two
docunents indicate that for approximately the |last 25 years
you’ ve worked as a professor of psychol ogy, and in doing
so, that you ve taught and researched in the areas of child
abuse, donestic violence, child sexual abuse and
devel opnent al psychopat hol ogy.

I's that correct?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, it is.

MR. ENGELMANN: Aside fromyour active
academ c career, | understand that you have continued to
act as a psychologist in private practice and have done so

for about the same period of tinme?
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 23 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)

2

WOLFE: That’s correct.

2

ENGELMANN:  So that’s approxi mtely 25
years as wel | ?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN: So Dr. Wl fe, perhaps we
could just turn to the bio for a mnute at Tab 2.

DR WOLFE: M hm

MR. ENGELMANN: |'’m assuming that that’s up
on the screens for people.

Dr. Wlfe, just starting at the top under
your academ ¢ background, could you just tell us briefly --
it says that you hold the RBC Chair in children’ s nenta
health at the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health --
explain to us what that means, what that is?

DR. WOLFE: That’s an endowed chair by Roya
Bank of Canada that they endowed to the Centre for
Addi ction and Mental Health in the University of Toronto
specifically to hire soneone to study the broad issues of
children’s nmental health.

DR. WOLFE: And how | ong have you hel d that

chair?

DR. WOLFE: The chair was begun in Cctober
of 2002. | was the first person to hold it. So it’s since
t hen.

MR, ENCGELMANN: Al right.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 24 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)

And also in that sane paragraph of the bio
there’s a reference to the fact that you' re a founding
menber of the Centre for Research on Viol ence agai nst Wnen
and Children at UWO

Can you just explain to us what that’s
about, what you' ve done, what the centre does and what your
i nvol venent with the centre is or was?

DR. WOLFE: The centre there at the
University of Western Ontario was begun in 1993. It’s one
of five centres funded by the federal governnent across the
country follow ng the Montreal nassacre in 1989,
specifically to address issues of violence agai nst wonen
and we al so added children to our particular centre.

| started that with a group in 93 and | was
their academ c director just prior to my current position.

MR. ENGELMANN: Are you still involved with
the centre in any way?

DR. WOLFE: | share a lot of research with
them and ny col |l eagues are still there, so yes, | am

MR ENGELMANN: Al right.

Now, sir, just turning back to Tab 1 for a
moment, your CV, you have a long list of articles and books
that you have either authored or coauthored, starting on
page 7 of that CV

DR. WOLFE: Yes.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 25 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)

MR. ENGELMANN: Can you give us sone
indication if sone of those particular articles, books,
chapters relate to the subject matter of child sexua
abuse?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, they do.

MR. ENCELMANN:  And | understand that a few
of those articles may in fact be listed in a selected
bi bl i ography that you provided for us?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  And that’'s at Tab 4 of the
Book of Docunents.

And the nature of the sel ected bibliography,
Dr. Wlfe?

DR. WOLFE: | provided this to support sone
of the statenents |I'’mgiving and al so for others who are
interested in reading nore about this topic. And then
there were certain articles and books you nentioned from ny
owmn work that | listed here.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

And so I'’mjust |ooking at the second page
of Tab 4. It appears the last five notations you' ve had
sonething to do wth?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, | have.

MR. ENGELMANN: Can you just tell us briefly

if those are books, chapters, articles, or what we're
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 26 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)
dealing with?

DR WOLFE: The “Wekerle et Wlfe” is a book
chapter dealing with the broad area of child naltreatnent,
all fornms of abuse and neglect, and then there’s two
articles. One was witten specifically on nen who have
been abused and one was witten about the basis of harm of
peopl e who have been abused. That ---

MR. ENGELMANN:. Sir -- |I'msorry.

DR. WOLFE: That was the one on the inpact
of child abuse in community institutions.

MR. ENGELMANN:  Al'l right.

And sir, | note at page 7 of Tab 1 of your
CV, you are a coauthor of a text, Abnormal Child
Psychol ogy?

DR. WOLFE: That’s correct.

MR. ENGELMANN: Does that text -- first of
all, could you say sonet hing about the text and whether or
not it deals with this issue of child sexual abuse?

DR WOLFE: That textbook is on abnornal
child psychol ogy, so it covers the whole area of anxiety
di sorders, ADHD in children and depression. It was the
first textbook to include a chapter on child abuse and
neglect and it is used in universities across Canada and
the U. S., undergraduate.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 27 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)

And under that term “child abuse,” would
t here be sone discussion of child sexual abuse?

DR. WOLFE: Yes. W have quite a bit of
di scussion in there on that.

MR, ENGELMANN:  Al'l right.

Now, sir, turning back to Tab 2 -- | hope
we’'re not junping around too rmuch -- just to your bio,
note that it indicates that you ve al so worked for the
Children’s Ald Society in London.

DR WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN: Can you tell us just a
little bit about that experience and what you did for thenf

DR. WOLFE: Wien | first becane a registered
psychol ogist in Ontario in 1981 | took a position a day a
week when | was at Western full-tinme as a professor for ny
clinical work. | did a |ot of assessnent of children and
famlies who were under the care of Children’s Aid Society
for abuse and negl ect.

MR ENCELMANN:  And | note as well under the
caption of “Cinical and Forensic” in your bio, there's a

reference to the fact that you' ve testified sone 38 tines?

DR. WOLFE: | think so; 38 approxi mately.
MR. ENGELMANN:  Approximately, in any event.
DR WOLFE: M hm

MR. ENGELMANN:. And you’ ve testified
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presumably as an expert w tness?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  And have you on occasion
testified as an expert witness qualified as an expert in
chil d sexual abuse?

DR WOLFE: Yes, | have.

MR. ENGELMANN. Dr. Wl fe, | know that you
have sone reference to this in your CV, so |I'll just have
you turn back to Tab 1 for a nonent at page 5.

Just tell us very briefly sonmething about the four
bull ets we see under “Expert testinony.”

DR. WOLFE: | had been asked to provide
expert testinony for both plaintiff and defence in cases of
child sexual abuse sonetines involving children and
sonetinmes involving adults historically, abuse. The
liquidator for the Christian Brothers of Ireland in Canada
asked ne to do the assessnents of the Mount Cashel victins,
1999 to 2003. So | was involved in that. And then |’ ve
been a consultant on civil and crim nal proceedings.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

Then, Dr. Wlfe, in your curriculumvitae,
the first page, Tab 1, there’s a reference to honours and
awards. | just wanted to ask you briefly about a couple of
t hem

There's a reference to the Donal d Hebb Award
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 29 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE QUALI FI CATI ON

(Engel mann)
in 2005. Perhaps just explain the meaning or significance
of this honour?

DR. WOLFE: Donald Hebb was a very well -
known Canadi an psychol ogi st who advanced the area of
research in psychol ogy, and the Canadi an Psychol ogi cal
Associ ation gives an award in his honour every year. So
| ast year | received that for ny research in the area of
child abuse and prevention of violence in relationships.

MR. ENGELMANN: And can you tell us a little
bit about the Qutstanding Career Award in the year 20007

DR. WOLFE: That award is given by the
Ameri can Professional Society for the Abuse of Children,
and they every year give one award for soneone who has done
the nost in their career for the area of child abuse and
negl ect .

MR, ENGELMANN: And lastly, there’s a
reference to the President Division 37. Can you tell us
about that?

DR. WOLFE: The Anerican Psychol ogi cal
Associ ation has a nunber of divisions, as does the
Canadi an, and | was asked to run for an office back in
think it was 97 -98 and was elected. This is by other
psychol ogi sts, nenbers of the Society.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

M. Conm ssioner, those are ny questions for
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 30 EXAM NATI ON ON
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE

QUALI FI CATI ON
(Engel mann)

Dr. Wlfe in respect of his qualifications.

So subject to any questions ny friends may
have, 1'’m seeking to qualify Dr. Wlfe as an expert in
child sexual abuse and, in addition, an expert in the
i npact of child sexual abuse on victins.

THE COW SSI ONER:  Have you di scussed with
counsel the order of who would be standing first?

MR. ENGELMANN:. What we did was, on Friday,
send sone correspondence to counsel

THE COW SSI ONER: M hm

MR. ENGELMANN: | realize it’s late in the
day.

THE COW SSIONER: M hm

MR. ENGELMANN:  We had a few hiccups | ast
week, but the idea was that counsel would speak and try and
agree anongst thenselves on an order. |I’mnot sure if
there are going to be any questions on the qualifications.
| know they have certainly agreed on an order for a
substantive cross-exam nation, but there may be sone
guestions and presumably they could just follow that order.

THE COW SSIONER: Al right.

Ladi es, Gentlenen, anyone have any questions
of this witness with respect to his qualifications?

No. That’s fine. Thank you.

( SHORT PAUSE)
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 31 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

THE COW SSI ONER: Ready to go.

EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF BY/ | NTERROGATO RE EN- CHEF PAR MR
ENGEL MANN:

MR, ENGELMANN:  Dr. Wl fe, now that you' re
qualified, I would like to then ask you to take a | ook at
your book of docunents and, in particular Tab 3, your
Qutline of Evidence.

Per haps at this stage, M. Comm ssioner,
given that Dr. Wl fe has now been qualified, if this Book
of Docunments could be nmade the next exhibit in the inquiry?

THE COW SSIONER: Al right.

Madam Cl erk, where are we with the exhibits?

THE REG STRAR:  Si xteen (16).

THE COW SSIONER:  So this would be 16(P)

MR. ENGELMANN:  Therefore the Book of
Docunents of Dr. David A. Wlfe is Exhibit 16(p) in the
inquiry.

--- EXH BIT NO./PI ECE No. 16(p)
BOOK OF DOCUMENTS - DR DAVID A WOLFE
Ph. D.

MR. ENGELMANN:  Dr. Wl fe, when we started
to get together not too long ago | asked that you prepare
an outline as opposed to a full report. |Is this in fact
the outline that you have prepared for us?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, it is.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 32 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

MR, ENGELMANN:.  Al'l right.

And in this particular outline | want to
start by asking you -- you cite a definition for child
sexual abuse fromthe Wrld Health Organization. |'mjust
wondering if you could read that to us but also explain to
us why it is you have chosen that particular definition as
opposed to some ot her?

DR. WOLFE: Although there is pretty good
consensus about what child sexual abuse is, the Wrld
Heal t h Organi zation drew together sonme experts back in
1998-°99 really to cone to a formal consensus on this, and
| put that into my outline because | think it does capture
really the fundanental nature of child sexual abuse beyond
t he actual sexual aspects of it, the acts thensel ves, and
that is the fact that children can’t conprehend what is
done to them They have no real conprehension of sexual
activity. It captures the issue of |ack of inforned
consent because children cannot consent to this activity.
And it also tal ks about the nature of the relationship
between the adult and the child, and that is critical when
we are tal king about child sexual abuse. It is the
enotional bond that that child may have.

So | could read it to you if you like, but
those are the main points that drew my attention to that

particul ar definition.
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 33 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

MR. ENGELMANN: That’s fi ne.

Wul d you agree that that is a conprehensive
definition?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, it is.

MR, ENGELMANN:  Now, you tal ked about the
fact that child sexual abuse is not limted to the
i nducenent or coercion of the child to engage in any
unl awf ul sexual activity in your report.

Can you expl ain what you nean by that?

DR. WOLFE: There is also other forns of
child sexual exploitation besides the actual abuse, which
woul d be involving the child with an adult, and that could
be pornography, sex trade, prostitution and those ot her
forns.

MR. ENGELMANN: I n the next bullet on the
page, the fourth one down, you note that the term sexua
abuse is often used to enphasise the enotional relationship
between the child victimand the sexual exploiter.

Can you explain what you nean by the
enotional rel ationship?

DR. WOLFE: The nature of all forns of
abuse, including sexual abuse, have a relationship
underlying the nature of what is happening. Physical abuse
has a relationship that involves physical contact. This

has sexual contact. A relationship could be a famli al
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 34 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

one, soneone that is a fam |y nmenber or a caregiver. It
coul d be an acquai ntance rel ati onshi p, soneone outsi de of
the famly, coach, teacher, or it could be a stranger. But
the relationship context is critical to understanding the
nature of abuse.

MR. ENGELMANN:. Ckay. Well, just on the
rel ati onship context, and for the nmonent | note in your
outline you talk about intra-famlial abuse and you talk
about extra-famlial abuse.

Just tell us what both those ternms nmean and
the significance of them

DR. WOLFE: Well, intra-famlial is soneone
who is living in the home. Typically they re a biological
famly menber or related famly nenber in sonme way,
extended famly nenber. It could be an uncle, aunt,
gr andpar ent .

MR, ENGELMANN:  So we’re tal king incest, for
exanple. That's intra-famlial?

DR. WOLFE: That is intra-famlial, although
that is with a biological blood relative ---

MR. ENGELMANN: Al l right.

So that’s a subset of it?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR ENGELMANN: Al right.

And the extra-famlial?

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



© 00 ~N oo o s~ w N P

e A S T <
o o0 A W N B O

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PUBLI C HEARI NG 35 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

DR. WOLFE: That coul d be anybody el se.
Anybody that is not |ooking after the child in the hone is
extra-famlial. It could be a stranger, but typically it’s
an acquai nt ance, soneone known to the child.

MR. ENGELMANN: And sone exanpl es of extra-
famlial would be?

DR. WOLFE: The list is endless there. It
could be a bus driver, teacher, coach

MR, ENGELMANN:  Ckay.

DR. WOLFE: Anyone.

MR, ENGELMANN:  Al'l right.

Now, you have nentioned three types of
rel ationships: famlial; acquaintance; stranger. So in the
extra-famlial side of things, one has both acquai ntance
and stranger?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

W will get intothat alittle bit later
about what is nore prevalent.

DR. WOLFE: M hm

MR, ENGELMANN:  When you tal k about
exploitation and you say it’s a nore generic term which
al so includes sex trade and commercial exploitation, does
it include child sexual abuse, the term*“child sexual

exploitation”?
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PUBLI C HEARI NG 36 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

DR. WOLFE: Sone people use that termas a
generic broad termthat includes everything fromthe intra-
famlial inthe famly all the way to sex trade and
prostitution.

MR. ENGELMANN: Could you briefly tell us
sone of the physical fornms of sexual exploitation, what
t hey incl ude?

DR WOLFE: Sexual abuse can involve
touching of the child or the child touching the offender
typically in the genital areas. It can involve sone form
of penetration, digital, penile. It could involve sone
kind of masturbation. Those are the physical forns.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

Now, you al so tal k about verbal sexual
abuse.

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN: The top of the second page
of your outline.

What does that include?

DR. WOLFE: That’s using inappropriate
| anguage with a child or exposing the child to | ewd
coments, nmaki ng comments about the child s appearance,
obscene phone calls, those types of things.

MR. ENGELMANN: And then you tal k about

exhi bitioni smand voyeurismin the context of child sexual
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abuse.

Can you give us sone exanples of that?

DR. WOLFE: That is when an adult tries to
have a child pose or undress in front of them performin a
sexual way, peeking at themin the bathroons, in bedroons,
spying on them show ng them adult pornographic photos or
exposing themto adult sexual activity.

MR. ENGELMANN:. Can you tell us howthis
m ght arise?

DR. WOLFE: Well, child nolesters -- [|'11
use that termgenerically until we discuss that nore --
woul d use those approaches to what we call groomthe child
or seduce the child into believing that this is acceptable
behavi our, that this is what adults do, that it’s nornmal
and it’s acceptable. So it gradually exposes themto nore
and nore sexual activity.

MR. ENGELMANN: Wy do use the term “groont?

DR. WOLFE: Well ---

MR. ENGELMANN: Wy do people in your field
use that ternf

DR WOLFE: | think it captures the nature
of the activity, that it’s not a sudden thing because that
woul d frighten a child. 1t’s a gradual introduction,
getting themused to it, getting themconfortable with it.

Sonme use the term seduction, but | prefer groom
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MR. ENGELMANN: So this could happen over a
fair piece of time?

DR. WOLFE: It can happen over a day. It
can happen over 10 years.

MR. ENGELMANN: Dr. Wl fe, then | would like
to talk to you about the second area you have listed in
your report, and that is the types and preval ence of child
sexual abuse. | note you have listed the terns
“pedophilia” and “hebophilia”.

Can you tell us in |ayperson’s terns what
t hose terns nean?

DR. WOLFE: Pedophilia is attraction to
children, a sexual orientation to children. That’'s the
only one that’s an official nmental disorder in the
Di agnosti ¢ Manual, pedophilia. So it really neans anyone
fromages zero to 18.

Sone peopl e tal k about hebophilia as
attraction to basically adol escents, post-pubescent
children because there’'s sone offenders that are nore
interested in that age group. So that’s a subset of
pedophi li a.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al l right.

And you’ ve referenced the D agnostic Mnual .
I s that what we see at Tab 5 of your Book of Docunents,

sir?
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DR WOLFE: Yes, it is.

MR, ENGELMANN.  All right.

And you’ ve noted that there is a definition
for pedophilia in the DSM 4?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:. And do you know if -- you’ ve
told us there is no definition or separate definition for
hebophi | i a.

DR. WOLFE: There’s no formal nental
di sorder call ed hebophili a.

MR. ENGELMANN: Do you know if that's in the
works or if that’s still going to just be a subset of
pedophi | i a?

DR WOLFE: | don’t knowif it’'s in the
wor ks because until we know that there’s a difference
between the two in terns of the causes and the treatnent,
there wouldn’t be a reason to separate it diagnostically.

MR. ENGELMANN: |s that sonething that’s
currently being studi ed?

DR WOLFE: Yes.

MR, ENGELMANN:  Now, in your book, in your
outline you talk a little bit about exclusive and non-
excl usi ve pedophil es.

Can you explain to us what you nean by those

two terns?

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



© 00 ~N oo g A w N P

e A S T <
o o0~ W DN P O

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PUBLI C HEARI NG 40 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF
AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)

DR. WOLFE: I n determ ning the diagnosis of
pedophilia, it’s inportant to distinguish those individuals
who have an interest only in children. That's the
exclusive type. They can’t get sexually aroused unless it
is a mnor.

And t hen the non-exclusive type could be
sexual |y aroused to children as well as adults.

MR ENCELMANN:  Dr. Wl fe, | would like to
ask you if there is a typical background, from your
know edge and experience, for a pedophile?

DR WOLFE: No, there isn’t. W have a
difficulty understanding or describing who a pedophile is
or their typical characteristics because they cut across a
whol e range of areas. Socioeconom c areas, there’ s no
difference. Ethnic areas, there’s no difference.

The only difference, the only clear risk
factor is being mal e because it’s alnost all nale.

MR ENCELMANN:  So if one is married or
unmarried, no difference, to your know edge?

DR. WOLFE: No, that does not distinguish
pedophiles. They could be married, unmarried, living with
a woman.

MR. ENGELMANN: Coul d they be parents or non
parents?

DR. WOLFE: Absol utely.
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MR. ENGELMANN: Coul d they have different
sexual orientation? |In other words, could they be
het er osexual , honbsexual or bisexual ?

DR. WOLFE: Yes. Their sexual orientation
is to children, but they could al so have a honpbsexual
orientation or a heterosexual or bisexual orientation. To
t he best of our know edge, there’s no difference in terns
of the proportions in the general popul ation versus the
pedophi | e popul ati on.

So honosexuality, for exanple, is a sexua
orientation towards the same sex, but it has no connection
to pedophilia. 1It’s not the sanme thing at all.

MR. ENGELMANN: |s there an anal ogy that you
could think of? You ve tal ked about the fact that it
doesn’t -- you can't get a typical pattern fromethnic or
national origin, socioecononm c class, sexual orientation.
| s there anot her analogy that would fit here?

DR. WOLFE: The one that came to mind to nme
i s wonen abuse which we’ve studied a | ot previous to this
issue, in the *70s and *80s in particular, and in trying to
determne the typical wfe batterer no particular pattern
comes to mnd. | nean, we’' ve |ooked and | ooked at that,
and certainly there are different types, but there's
not hi ng that distinguishes a nman who batters his wife and

one who doesn’t other than being mal e once again.
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MR. ENGELMANN: | note in your report, Dr.
Wl fe, the final bullet under this subsection you say:

“The attraction is often the fact that
it is achild and the child is
accessi bl e, not whether the person has
sexual attraction to one’s sex or the
ot her.”

Coul d you tell us what you nean by that?

DR. WOLFE: Well, the pedophile is attracted
to children, so they will be interested in whichever child
t hey have access to, and sone are nore interested only in
one sex or the other, but they still may be involved with a
child of the | esser desired sex because it’s nore
accessi bl e.

For exanpl e, adol escent boys are nuch nore
accessible to nen than girls are.

MR, ENGELMANN: And can you give us sone
reasons for that?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, because in our society it’s
nore acceptable for nen to nentor boys. |It’s an inportant
thing, and nost adults feel it’s a good thing for their
sons to have a male figure that spends tine wth them and
so forth, but they may feel less confortable with their
daught er s.

MR. ENGELMANN: Ckay. So sone exanpl es of
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that that would exist, accessibility to boys 10 to 14 or
nore conmonly in our society, would be such as Scout
| eaders with Scouts?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, Scouts is a good exanpl e of
t hat .
ENGELMANN: At hletes with coaches?
WOLFE:  Yes.
ENGELMANN: | f they’' re segregated?

WOLFE: Yes.

2 3 3 3 3

ENGELMANN:  Sone ot her exanpl es?

3

WOLFE: Music teachers that m ght want
to take the children on a tour or sonething overnight.

MR. ENGELMANN: Presumably they woul d have
access to both sexes though, unless it was a boys’ school
or agirl’s ---

DR. WOLFE: But if they did, there would be
nore |ikelihood that a female would attend as well ---

MR ENGELMANN: | see.

DR WOLFE: ~--- if there are girls involved.

MR, ENGELMANN:  Ckay.

DR. WOLFE: At | east today.

MR. ENGELMANN: So let’s talk a little bit
about the characteristics of child sexual abuse, and that’s
i n your next section. You nake sonme reference to | believe

it’s the abstract of Dr. Fi nkel hor.
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DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENCELMANN: And is that the extract or
abstract -- sorry -- that we find at Tab 8 of your Book?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, it is.

MR, ENGELMANN:  Al'l right.

Now, this particular abstract is from 1994.
So presumably the statistics are from 1993 or earlier?

DR WOLFE: Yes.

MR, ENGELMANN: So when you make a reference
toit, for exanple, and you say on average that one in five
wonen report that they experienced sonme formof child
sexual abuse, do you know offhand if those figures are
still up-to-date or accurate?

DR. WOLFE: | believe that they are. Those
estimates are based on nore than one study. There's quite
a few studies. So on average it was one out of five wonen
reporting being abused when they were a m nor.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

And these were North Anerican studies, sir?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, they were all done in the
U.S. and Canada.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right.

You’' ve al so nade a reference to an article
by Freyd from 2005. Do you know if she cones up with

sim | ar nunbers?
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DR. WOLFE: She didn’t do a study herself,
but she had a recent article in the journal Science, a well
respected journal, and cane to the sane concl usion, that
it’s -- that the figures are one in five for wonen, one in
ten to one in twenty for nen.

MR, ENGELMANN.  Al'l right.

Perhaps if we could turn to Tab 9 briefly?

DR WOLFE: M hm

MR. ENGELMANN: | believe there’ s one page
bon and | don©& know if this is an abstract, sir. You can
help nme here. It is an article by Jennifer Freyd and
ot hers on the science of child sexual abuse.

DR WOLFE: Yes.

MR ENCELMANN:  And | note in that first
paragraph, and she refers to it as CSA, that she says, "It
has been reported by 20 per cent of wonen and 5 to 10 per
cent of nmen world-wide.” So apparently studies are going
even beyond North Anerica with those types of nunbers.

DR WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  Ckay.

DR. WOLFE: Yes, she is citing the Wrld
Heal th Organi zation that has gathered nore statistics.

MR. ENGELMANN: She says the surveys likely
underestinmate the preval ence because of under-reporting and

menory failure. Wuld you agree with that?
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DR WOLFE: | would. The only difficulty
t hey have and the reason they get different figures is
where the age cutoff is and exactly how they define the
nature of the abuse.

MR. ENGELMANN: Al right. And that cut-off
m ght be at a different age maxi mum dependi ng on who is
doi ng the research?

DR. WOLFE: Mchm vyes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  So t he nunber of nen that
have reported experiencing sone formof child sexual abuse
is between 5 and 10 per cent of the male popul ati on?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN: And again, these were adult
mal es tal king about experiences they had as chil dren?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN: Now, are you aware at all,
Dr. Wl fe, about estinmates here in the province of Ontari o,
fromthe Ontario health suppl enent, and how t hey woul d
differ, if at all?

DR WOLFE: There was a -- the Ontario
heal th supplement is done on a periodic basis for a sub-
sanpl e of the whole population in Ontario. They canme up
wth an estimate a little bit less; 1 in 8 wonen were
reporting that they had been abused prior to age 18.

MR. ENGELMANN: And do you know how t hey
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came out on the nale side? Wre they between the 5 and 10
per cent?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, they were. It was actually
just under 5 per cent.

THE COW SSI ONER:  So, just help nme out here
alittle bit. You have indicated that nostly boys woul d be
the victinms of a pedophile because boys are nore avail abl e
to predators, | suppose.

DR. WOLFE: No, actually what | nmeant was
that the pedophile may abuse girls or boys, but as they get
ol der, they are going to have nore access -- well, actually
even at a younger age they may have nore access to only
boys. W think that the proportion of boys is probably a
| ot higher than what the adult population is telling us.

THE COW SSIONER: Right. And vis-a-vis
girls and boys do you have any percentages between -- as
victins?

DR WOLFE: G rls are nuch nore likely to be
victim zed in their hones and boys are nmuch nore likely to
be victimzed out of their hones.

THE COWM SSI ONER:  Okay.

DR. WOLFE: For exactly the reasons we are
di scussing, that in the hone, itG okay to be alone with a
girl. Qutside the hone, itCs not.

THE COW SSI ONER: Ckay.
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MR. ENCELMANN:  So the feral e victim of
child sexual abuse nore likely would be intra-famlial as
opposed to the extra-famlial ?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  And what about the male
victim is it nore likely the opposite?

DR WOLFE: The nale victins are much nore
likely to be of fended by an acquai ntance, not a famly
menber .

MR. ENGELMANN:  Now you say in this section,
under characteristics of child sexual abuse, that there is
little evidence of a dramatic increase. And can you tel
us about the tinmefranme and what you@re saying by that
parti cul ar statenent?

DR WOLFE: Prior to 1980, there are no
statistics available, in the U S. or Canada or worldw de
around just the reporting of abuse. The U S. started their
first reporting in 1980-81 and by the end of that decade
they found that the rates of sexual abuse were goi ng way
up. They started at around 5 per cent and they were
heading to 12 per cent. So everyone thought there was --
this was an epidemc. The reality, they now realize, was
t hat people were now aware of what to report and so it was
going up and then itCs settled dowmn now to around 6 or 7

per cent, typically each year. That© the incidence rate
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each year.

MR. ENGELMANN: Ckay. The incidence rates
of child sexual abuse ---

DR WOLFE: Yes.

MR, ENGELMANN: --- anongst both boys and
girls?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, both boys and girls. But
what | nmean by that, of the reported cases, not in the
popul ation. Like, 6 per cent of our kids are not
necessarily being abused each year. Six per cent of al
the cases reported to child welfare and police tend to be
sexual abuse cases.

MR. ENGELMANN: Fair enough.

Now, you do say at the next bullet that the vast majority
of the sexual abuse is commtted by nen and | think you
give us a nunber of over 90 per cent. |Is that correct?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, it is, | think.

MR, ENCELMANN:  And what about those few
cases when -- and you have told us about what you can&
tell us about the background of pedophiles and presunably
the vast majority of the pedophiles therefore are nale.
What about those few cases where the abusers are fenal e?
Can you tell us anything about themor who the victins
m ght be?

DR. WOLFE: |t does occur. It is much nore
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rare, in that 10 per cent or so of wonmen who have been
accused, alleged to abuse children, about half of them have
a mal e partner involved. So the woman@s rol e nmay have been
inluring the child or adol escent into sexual activity
because the woman is safer. So they are a partner in the
crinme, so to speak ---

MR, ENGELMANN:  Yes.

DR. WOLFE: --- for pornography or other
forms of sexual activity.

And then there is other cases where itGCs
been a caregiver role, babysitter, that kind of thing. And
then the other formwhich is also rare, but is an adult
woman groom ng and i nduci ng or having sex with an
adol escent boy.

MR. ENGELMANN:  And what about the nmale
pedophi | e whose victins are exclusively or predom nantly
mal e? Can you tell us sonething about them and the type of
chil d sexual abuse or the occurrence?

DR. WOLFE: The pedophile who is
predom nantly interested in boys and it tends to be
acquai ntances, | say not famlial, have a nuch higher,
about twice the recidivismrate of those who are interested
ingirls or famly abusers.

MR. ENGELMANN: What do you mean by

recidivismrate, sir?
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DR. WOLFE: It neans they are going to
repeat it. That it© very hard to stop and in particular,
the research has shown that those who have an interest in
young adol escent boys are anong the worst, anong the nost
difficult to ever treat and stop.

MR. ENGELMANN: Now, you say in your report
that the peak age of vulnerability is between 7 and 13.
You are tal king about the age of the child victim is that
correct?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, yes.

MR. ENGELMANN:  And is there a continuum
there, or is there sonewhere between 7 and 13 where that
percent age actual ly does peak?

DR. WOLFE: Well, it depends on the study,
but age 10 and 11 is a particularly vul nerable age, in the
studi es, when you | ook at who is being reported for sexual
abuse; 10, 11-year old kids.

MR. ENGELMANN: Can you tell us why that is?
Why t hat age?

DR WOLFE: Well, renenber these are ones
that are currently reported. Wen we | ook at adults, they
coul d have been older. But the ones that are actually
comng into our awareness today; itCs believed because the
of fender sees them as sexually mature, enough to be

attracted to them and yet they©e still very innocent, easy
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to lure, easy to fool into sexual activities and they al so
are nore likely to have a relationship with that person
It©s easy to work your way into their life so that you can
t rust ed.

MR. ENGELMANN:  You may have nentioned this,
sir but what about the nature of curiosity at that age vis-
a-vis sex?

DR. WOLFE: Children are just at the point
where they are curious about it. They know enough about
sex to know it@s different. They are curious and so if
soneone is wlling to talk to them about it or show t hem
things, they@ | be attracted to that. So once again, itCs
an easy lure in that respect.

MR. ENGELMANN: So, if 7 to 13 is peak age
of vulnerability and 10, 11, perhaps the peak wi thin that
range, does it end at 13 or what happens?

DR. WOLFE: No, it doesn€& end at 13. It
depends on the interest of that particular offender. That
of fender that is only interested in 10, 11, 12-year olds
may stop once a child gets older and has to cut off the tie
sonehow and that©s not always easy to do. They may be
di scovered at that point. O they may go on to be abused
by soneone el se.

MR. ENCELMANN: Are there situations where

it mght be easy to cut off that tie, because of a natural
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break in their age?

DR. WOLFE: Yes, the best, and | hate to put
it inthese terns, but the best position for the offender
woul d be where the children are brought to himat a certain
grade, grade six, and then once |©m done being your coach,
you nove on and | don€& see you anynore.

So | have a natural way of cutting off ny

MR ENCELMANN:  So we have the Pee-We
hockey coach who stays the Pee-\We hockey coach and deal s
with 11 and 12-year-ol ds?

DR. WOLFE: Yes.

MR, ENGELMANN: O ---

DR WOLFE: If that’s what you' re attracted
to and have access to overnight and so forth, that would be
a high risk situation for a pedophile to be in.

MR. ENGELMANN: What, if anything, does that
have to do with whether or not that particul ar pedophile
m ght be di scovered?

DR WOLFE: Well, it makes for a nuch easier
di sgui se for them because you are in circunstances where
you have responsibility for the children or child, you can
be alone with them you m ght canp out with them you take
them on overnight. So it’s -- and it’s also possible to

di sgui se the activity because the child may be a probl em
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child if you re in, say, a youth detention centre or
speci al school for kids. There's lots of ways to disguise
what you’'re up to.

MR. ENGELMANN: What about the break in that
contact? And | don’t know if this is true or not, but
presumably there’s a break once those children | eave that
age category.

DR. WOLFE: M hm

MR. ENGELMANN: And does that assist or not
wWth respect to the ability to disguise or not detect?

DR. WOLFE: Wat we know about pedophiles is
that they have to get the children into their mdst and
then they have to get themout. And to get themout, the
easiest way is if there’s a natural break so you won't see
t hem anynore, because the child typically cares about the
of fender and -- we’ll| discuss that | believe -- thinks that
it’s a special relationship.

And so “If you don’'t want to be ny coach

anynore or spend tine with me,” they may start questioning
the whole thing. So the offender wants it to be a natural
break and a qui ck one.

MR, ENGELMANN: Dr. Wl fe, perhaps we can
then turn to the next area of your outline and this is the

caption about how our understandi ng and awar eness of sexual

abuse has evolved. And | note you have started this
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section by quoting froma chapter in the book Child Sexual
Expl oi tati on.
W have the chapter at Tab 7 and it is
chapter 23 of that book, *“Acquaintance Child Ml esters: A
Behavi oural Anal ysis” and that’s by Kenneth Lanning, a
former supervisory special agent with the Federal Bureau of
| nvesti gati on.
|’m 1l ooking in particular at the second page
of the chapter, page 530. There’'s a caption overview and
it’s that second paragraph underneat h:
“I'n the United States, society’s
hi storical attitude about the sexual
victim zation of children can generally
be sumred up in one word: denial.
Most peopl e do not want to hear about
it and would prefer to pretend that
such victim zation just does not occur.
Today, however, it is difficult to
pretend that it does not happen.”
Now, you’ve cited that and you’ ve al so nade
a point of summng it up in one word.
Wy is that, Dr. Wlfe?
DR. WOLFE: It’s a concept that is very
difficult for nost of us to grasp; how could this be going

on and | don’t know about it? | want to believe it’'s not,

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.



© 00 ~N oo g b~ w N

e A S T < e
o o0~ W DN B O

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PUBLI C HEARI NG 56 EXAM NATI ON | N- CHI EF

AUDI ENCE PUBLI QUE (Engel mann)
so therefore, | may viewit differently. | may distort
what |’ mhearing. But, |ike anything, we have the exact

sane approach to wonen abuse. W have a |lot of the sane
approach to racism sexism honophobia. Wen we don’t |ike
it and it’s a problem we deny it for a long tine.

MR. ENGELMANN: What, if anything, results
fromthat denial?

DR. WOLFE: Pardon ne?

MR. ENGELMANN: What, if anything, results
fromthat denial of view?

DR. WOLFE: What results is delay; delay of
justice, delay of recognition of the problem Victins
can’t discuss what’'s happened because the preponderance of
belief is against that. So it takes a long tinme for the
systemto shift into action.

Let nme just add one thing there. | think
historically it’s inportant to recognize that this has been
going on since the dawn of tinme. So in a way we are now in
areally, really recent interest in this topic; 50 years or
so. Before that, it was always denied. It was -- or just
accepted, but never -- rarely, rarely prosecuted.

MR. ENGELMANN: Has our view changed at al
on this denial?

DR. WOLFE: Absolutely. It is still

changing with all the clear recognition by people who are
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able to cone forward and expl ain what happened to them
with adults comng forward. That’'s done quite a bit,
because as an adult they're easier to believe than children
may be. And so with all this preponderance of evidence,
the denial is gradually declining.

MR. ENGELMANN: Now, in your second bull et
under this section, you refer to the fact that when sexual
abuse first becane public or at |least in the public domain,
in the *50s and 60 the primary focus was on “stranger
danger.” And | note that M. Lanning in that -- in Tab 7,
at page 531, gets into this in sone detail

Can you tell us what was neant by that and
what effect that view had, if any, on how we dealt with
child sexual abuse?

DR. WOLFE: Well, because as | say al nost
all of us find this very unconfortable and we don’t really
-- we can’t believe that this really can occur, we want to
believe that it’s evil, that it’'s sone evil force. So --
and certainly it does occur with strangers, but it’s much
nore rare. Mdst of them are acquaintances or famly
menbers.

So “stranger danger” was the first attenpt
to teach children about safety and nost of us in the room
probably had some of that growing up. W were told about

“Don't talk to strangers. Don’t get in their cars.” There
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were posters circulated. Police would conme to class and
say “If a man | ooks like this and offers you candy or wants
you to pet his puppy, don’'t talk to him” and that kind of
t hi ng.

So children becane for the first tinme really
in history no |onger innocent. You know, they were nore
worri ed about their nei ghbourhoods.

The reality, however, is it’s not black and
white. It’s not good and evil. [It’s the people the child
may be living with. So it’s a nuch nore conpl ex and nuch
nore unconfortabl e issue.

MR. ENGELMANN:. Did the concept of “stranger
danger” and that focus, did that continue past the ‘